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March 30, 1959.

Petitioner was tried and acquitted in a Federal District Court for
violation of 18 U. S. C. § 2113, which makes it a crime to rob a
federally insured bank. On substantially the same evidence, he
was later tried and convicted in an Illinois State Court for violation
of an Illinois robbery statute. Held:

1. The cooperation of federal law enforcement officers with
Illinois officials did not violate the Double Jeopardy Clause of the
Fifth Amendment. Pp. 122-124.

2. The Fourteenth Amendment does not impliedly extend the
first eight amendments to the States. Pp. 124-126.

3. The Illinois prosecution for violation of its own penal law
after a prior acquittal for a federal offense, on substantially the
same evidence, did not violate the Due Process Clause of the
Fourteenth Amendment. Pp. 127-139.

7 111 2d 138, 130 N. E. 2d 187, affirmed.

Walter T. Fisher, acting under appointment by the
Court, 352 U. S. 958, reargued the cause and filed a brief
on rehearing for petitioner.

William C. Wines, Assistant Attorney General of Illi-
nois, reargued the cause for respondent. With him on a
brief on rehearing was Latham Castle, Attorney General.

MR. JusticE FRANKFURTER delivered the opinion of the
Court.

Petitioner was tried in the Federal District Court for
the Northern District of Illinois on December 18, 1953,
for robbery of a federally insured savings and loan asso-
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ciation, the General Savings and Loan Association of
Cicero, Illinois, in violation of 18 U. S. C. § 2113. The
case was tried to a jury and resulted in an acquittal. On
January 8, 1954, an Illinois grand jury indicted Bartkus.
The facts recited in the Illinois indictment were substan-
tially identical to those contained in the prior federal
indictment. The Illinois indictment charged that these
facts constituted a violation of Illinois Revised Statutes,
1951, c. 38, § 501, a robbery statute. Bartkus was tried
and convicted in the Criminal Court of Cook County and
was sentenced to life imprisonment under the Illinois
Habitual Criminal Statute. Ill. Rev. Stat., 1951, c. 38,
§ 602.

The Illinois trial court considered and rejected peti-
tioner’s plea of autrefois acquit. That ruling and other
alleged errors were challenged before the Illinois Supreme
Court which affirmed the conviction. 7 Ill. 2d 138, 130
N. E. 2d 187. We granted certiorari because the petition
raised a substantial question concerning the application
of the Fourteenth Amendment. 352 U. S. 907, 958.
On January 6, 1958, the judgment below was affirmed by
an equally divided Court. 355 U. S. 281. On May 26,
1958, the Court granted a petition for rehearing, vacated
the judgment entered January 6, 1958, and restored the
case to the calendar for reargument. 356 U. S. 969.

The state and federal prosecutions were separately con-
ducted. It is true that the agent of the Federal Bureau
of Investigation who had conducted the investigation on
behalf of the Federal Government turned over to the Illi-
nois prosecuting officials all the evidence he had gathered
against the petitioner. Concededly, some of that evi-
dence had been gathered after acquittal in the federal
court. The only other connection between the two trials
is to be found in a suggestion that the federal sentencing
of the accomplices who testified against petitioner in both
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trials was purposely continued by the federal court until
after they testified in the state trial. The record estab-
lishes that the prosecution was undertaken by state prose-
cuting officials within their discretionary responsibility
and on the basis of evidence that conduet contrary to the
penal code of Illinois had occurred within their jurisdie-
tion. It establishes also that federal officials acted in
cooperation with state authorities, as is the conventional
practice between the two sets of prosecutors throughout
the country. It does not support the claim that the
State of Illinois in bringing its prosecution was merely a
tool of the federal authorities, who thereby avoided the
prohibition of the Fifth Amendment against a retrial of

1 See Proceedings of the Attorney General’s Conference on Crime
(1934). At the conclusion of the state trial of Bartkus, State’s At-
torney Gutknecht thus reviewed the cooperation between federal and
state officials:

“We have had a number of cases where the state’s attorney’s office
have been cooperating very well with the federal authorities, par-
ticularly in the narcotics cases, because in that connection the federal
government should have the first authority in handling them because
narcotics is a nation-wide criminal organization, and so when I see
people going through this town and criticising the County of Cook
and the City of Chicago, because of the police, the state’s attorney
and the judges cooperating with the federal authorities, and giving
that as proof of the fact that since we don’t take the lead we must
be negligent in our duties, I am particularly glad to see a case where
the federal authorities came to the state’s attorney.

“We are cooperating with the federal authorities and they are
cooperating with us, and these statements in this city to the effect
that the fact that the federal authorities are in the county is a sign
of breakdown in law enforcement in Cook County is utter nonsense.

“The federal authorities have duties and we have duties. We are
doing our duty and this is an illustration of it, and we are glad to
continue to cooperate with the federal authorities. Give them the
first play where it is their duty, as in narcotics, and we take over
where our duty calls for us to earry the burden. . . .”

495957 O-59-13
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a federal prosecution after an acquittal. It does not sus-
tain a conclusion that the state prosecution was a sham
and a cover for a federal prosecution, and thereby in
essential fact another federal prosecution.

Since the new prosecution was by Illinois, and not by
the Federal Government, the claim of unconstitutionality
must rest upon the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth
Amendment. Prior cases in this Court relating to suc-
cessive state and federal prosecutions have been con-
cerned with the Fifth Amendment, and the scope of its
proscription of second prosecutions by the Federal Gov-
ernment, not with the Fourteenth Amendment’s effect on
state action. We are now called upon to draw on the
considerations which have guided the Court in applying
the limitations of the Fourteenth Amendment on state
powers. We have held from the beginning and uni-
formly that the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth
Amendment does not apply to the States any of the
provisions of the first eight amendments as such.? The
relevant historical materials have been canvassed by this
Court and by legal scholars.® These materials demon-
strate conclusively that Congress and the members of the
legislatures of the ratifying States did not contemplate
that the Fourteenth Amendment was a short-hand incor-
poration of the first eight amendments making them
applicable as explicit restrictions upon the States.

Evidencing the interpretation by both Congress and the
States of the Fourteenth Amendment is a comparison of
the constitutions of the ratifying States with the Federal

2 Hurtado v. California, 110 U. 8. 516; In re Kemmler, 136 U. S.
436; Mazwell v. Dow, 176 U. S. 581; Twining v. New Jersey, 211
U. 8. 78; Palko v. Connecticut, 302 U. 8. 319; Adamson v. California,
332 U. 8. 46.

3 Fairman, Does the Fourteenth Amendment Incorporate the Bill
of Rights? The Original Understanding, 2 Stan. L. Rev. 5.
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Constitution. Having regard only to the grand jury guar-
antee of the Fifth Amendment, the eriminal jury guaran-
tee of the Sixth Amendment, and the civil jury guarantee
of the Seventh Amendment, it is apparent that if the first
eight amendments were being applied verbatim to the
States, ten of the thirty ratifying States would have
impliedly been imposing upon themselves constitutional
requirements on vital issues of state policies contrary
to those present in their own constitutions.* Or, to
approach the matter in a different way, they would be
covertly altering provisions of their own constitutions in
disregard of the amendment procedures required by those
constitutions. Five other States would have been under-
taking procedures not in conflict with but not required
by their constitutions. Thus only one-half, or fifteen, of
the ratifying States had constitutions in explicit accord
with these provisions of the Fifth, Sixth, and Seventh
Amendments. Of these fifteen, four made alterations in
their constitutions by 1875 which brought them into
important conflict with one or more of these provisions
of the Federal Constitution. One of the States whose
constitution had not included any provision on one of the
three procedures under investigation adopted a provision
in 1890 which was inconsistent with the Federal Consti-
tution. And so by 1890 only eleven of the thirty ratify-
ing States were in explicit accord with these provisions of
the first eight amendments to the Federal Constitution.
Four were silent as to one or more of the provisions and
fifteen were in open conflict with these same provisions.?

4 See Appendix, post, p. 140, in which are detailed the provisions in
the constitutions of the ratifying States and of the States later
admitted to the Union which correspond to these federal guarantees
in the Fifth, Sixth, and Seventh Amendments.

5 Cf. Fox v. Ohio, 5 How. 410, 435, in which, in ruling that the
Fifth Amendment was not to be read as applying to the States,
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Similarly imposing evidence of the understanding of
the Due Process Clause is supplied by the history of the
admission of the twelve States entering the Union after
the ratification of the Fourteenth Amendment. In the
case of each, Congress required that the State’s constitu-
tion be “not repugnant” to the Constitution of the United
States.® Not one of the constitutions of the twelve
States contains all three of the procedures relating to
grand jury, criminal jury, and civil jury. In fact all
twelve have provisions obviously different from the re-
quirements of the Fifth, Sixth, or Seventh Amend-
ments. And yet, in the case of each admission, either
the President of the United States, or Congress, or both
have found that the constitution was in conformity with
the Enabling Act and the Constitution of the United
States.” Nor is there warrant to believe that the States
in adopting constitutions with the specific purpose of
complying with the requisites of admission were in fact
evading the demands of the Constitution of the United
States.

Surely this compels the conclusion that Congress and
the States have always believed that the Due Process
Clause brought into play a_basis of restrictions upon the
States other than the undisclosed incorporation of the
original eight amendments. In Hurtado v. California,
110 U. S. 516, this Court considered due process in its
historical setting, reviewed its development as a concept
in Anglo-American law from the time of the Magna
Carta until the time of the adoption of the Fourteenth

Mr. Justice Daniel wrote: “it is neither probable nor credible that the
States should have anxiously insisted to ingraft upon the federal
constitution restrictions upon their own authority . . . .”

6 See, e. ¢., 36 Stat. 569.

7 See, e. g., 37 Stat. 1728.
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Amendment and concluded that it was intended to be a
flexible concept, responsive to thought and experience—
experience which is reflected in a solid body of judicial
opinion, all manifesting deep convictions to be unfolded
by a process of “inclusion and exclusion.” Davidson v.
New Orleans, 96 U. 8. 97, 104. Time and again this
Court has attempted by general phrases not to define but
to indicate the purport of due process and to adumbrate
the continuing adjudicatory process in its application.
The statement by Mr. Justice Cardozo in Palko v. Con-
necticut, 302 U. S. 319, has especially commended itself
and been frequently cited in later opinions.® Referring
to specific situations, he wrote:

“In these and other situations immunities that are
valid as against the federal government by force of
the specific pledges of particular amendments have
been found to be implicit in the concept of ordered
liberty, and thus, through the Fourteenth Amend-
ment, become valid as against the states.” 302
U. S., at 324-325.

About the meaning of due process, in broad perspective
unrelated to the first eight amendments, he suggested that
it prohibited to the States only those practices “repug-
nant to the conscience of mankind.” 302 U. S., at 323.
In applying these phrases in Palko, the Court ruled that,
while at some point the cruelty of harassment by multiple
prosecutions by a State would offend due process, the
specific limitation imposed on the Federal Government
by the Double Jeopardy Clause of the Fifth Amendment
did not bind the States.

Decisions of this Court concerning the application of
the Due Process Clause reveal the necessary process of

8 See, e. g., Leland v. Oregon, 343 U. S. 790, 801; Rochin v. Cali-
fornia, 342 U. 8. 165, 169; Bute v. Illinois, 333 U. S. 640, 659.
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balancing relevant and conflicting factors in the judicial
application of that Clause. In Chambers v. Florida,
309 U. S. 227, we held that a state conviction of murder
was void because it was based upon a confession elicited
by applying third-degree methods to the defendant. But
we have also held that a second execution necessitated
by a mechanical failure in the first attempt was not in
violation of due process. Louisiana ex rel. Francis v.
Resweber, 329 U. S. 459. Decisions under the Due
Process Clause require close and perceptive inquiry into
fundamental principles of our society. The Anglo-Amer-
ican system of law is based not upon transcendental rev-
elation but upon the conscience of society ascertained as
best it may be by a tribunal disciplined for the task and
environed by the best safeguards for disinterestedness and
detachment.

Constitutional challenge to successive state and federal
prosecutions based upon the same transaction or conduct
is not a new question before the Court though it has
now been presented with conspicuous ability.® The Fifth

9 It has not been deemed relevant to discussion of our problem to
consider dubious English precedents concerning the effect of foreign
criminal judgments on the ability of English courts to try charges
arising out of the same conduct—dubious in part because of the
confused and inadequate reporting of the case on which much is
based, see the varying versions of Rex v. Hutchinson found in Beak v.
Thyrwhit, 3 Mod. 194, 87 Eng. Rep. 124 (reported as Beake v.
Tyrrell in 1 Show. 6, 89 Eng. Rep. 411, and as Beake v. Tirrell in
Comberbach 120, 90 Eng. Rep. 379), Burrows v. Jemino, 2 Strange
733, 93 Eng. Rep. 815 (reported as Burroughs v. Jamineau in Mos. 1,
25 Eng. Rep. 235, as Burrows v. Jemineau in Sel. Cas. 70, 25 Eng.
Rep. 228, as Burrows v. Jemineau in 2 Eq. Ca. Abr. 476, and as Bur-
rows v. Jemino in 22 Eng. Rep. 443), and explained in Gage v.
Bulkeley, Ridg. Cas. 263, 27 Eng. Rep. 824, Such precedents are
dubious also because they reflect a power of discretion vested in
English judges not relevant to the constitutional law of our federalism.




BARTKUS ». ILLINOIS. 129
121 Opinion of the Court.

Amendment’s proscription of double jeopardy has been
invoked and rejected in over twenty cases of real or hypo-
thetical successive state and federal prosecution cases
before this Court. While United States v. Lanza, 260 U. S.
377, was the first case in which we squarely held valid
a federal prosecution arising out of the same facts which
had been the basis of a state conviction, the validity of
such a prosecution by the Federal Government has not
been questioned by this Court since the opinion in Fox v.
Ohio, 5 How. 410, more than one hundred years ago.

In Fox v. Ohio argument was made to the Supreme
Court that an Ohio conviction for uttering counterfeit
money was invalid. This assertion of invalidity was based
in large part upon the argument that since Congress had
imposed federal sanctions for the counterfeiting of money,
a failure to find that the Supremacy Clause precluded the
States from punishing related conduct would expose an
individual to double punishment. Mr. Justice Daniel,
writing for the Court (with Mr. Justice McLean dissent-
ing), recognized as true that there was a possibility of
double punishment, but denied that from this flowed a
finding of pre-emption, concluding instead that both the
Federal and State Governments retained the power to
impose criminal sanctions, the United States because of
its interest in protecting the purity of its currency, the
States because of their interest in protecting their citizens
against fraud.

In some eight state cases decided prior to Fozx the courts
of seven States had discussed the validity of successive
state and federal prosecutions. In three, Missouri * North
Carolina,’ and Virginia,* it had been said that there
would be no plea in bar to prevent the second prosecution.

10 Mattison v. State, 3 Mo. *¥421.
11 State v. Brown, 2 N. C. *100.
12 Hendrick v. Commonwealth, 5 Leigh (Va.) 707.
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Discussions in two cases in South Carolina were in
conflict—the earlier opinion ** expressing belief that there
would be a bar, the later,"* without acknowledging dis-
agreement with the first, denying the availability of a plea
in bar. In three other States, Vermont,** Massachusetts,*®
and Michigan,”” courts had stated that a prosecution by
one government would bar prosecution by another govern-
ment of a crime based on the same conduect. The per-
suasiveness of the Massachusetts and Michigan decisions
is somewhat impaired by the precedent upon which they
relied in their reasoning. In the Supreme Court case
cited in the Massachusetts and Michigan cases, Houston v.
Moore, 5 Wheat. 1, there is some language to the effect
that there would be a bar to a second prosecution by a
different government. 5 Wheat., at 31. But that lan-
guage by Mr. Justice Washington reflected his belief that
the state statute imposed state sanctions for violation of a
federal criminal law. 5 Wheat., at 28. As he viewed the
matter, the two trials would not be of similar crimes aris-
ing out of the same conduct; they would be of the same
crime. Mr. Justice Johnson agreed that if the state courts
had become empowered to try the defendant for the fed-
eral offense, then such a state trial would bar a federal
prosecution. 5 Wheat., at 35. Thus Houston v. Moore
can be cited only for the presence of a bar in a case in
which the second trial is for a violation of the very statute
whose violation by the same conduct has already been
tried in the courts of another government empowered to
try that question.

13 State v. Antonio, 2 Treadway’s Const. Rep. (S. C.) 776.

14 State v. Tutt, 2 Bailey (S. C.) 44.

15 State v. Randall, 2 Aikens (Vt.) 89.

18 Commonwealth v. Fuller, 8 Metcalf (Mass.) 313.

17 Harlan v. People, 1 Douglass’ Rep. (Mich.) 207,

18 Mr. Justice Story’s dissenting opinion in Houston v. Moore,
5 Wheat. 1, 47, displays dislike of the possibility of multiple prosecu-
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The significance of this historical background of deci-
sions prior to Fozx is that it was, taking a position most
favorable to advocates of the bars of autrefois acquit and
autrefois convict in cases like that before this Court,
totally inconclusive. Conflicting opinions concerning the
applicability of the plea in bar may manifest conflict in
conscience. They certainly do not manifest agreement
that to permit successive state and federal prosecutions
for different ecrimes arising from the same acts would be
repugnant to those standards of outlawry which offend
the conception of due process outlined in Palko. (It is
worth noting that Palko sustained a first degree murder
conviction returned in a second trial after an appeal by
the State from an acquittal of first degree murder.) The
early state decisions had clarified the issue by stating
the opposing arguments. The process of this Court’s
response to the Fifth Amendment challenge was begun
in Fox v. Ohio, continued in United States v. Marigold,
9 How. 560, and was completed in Moore v. Illinots, 14
How. 13. Mr. Justice Grier, writing for the Court in
Moore v. Illinois, gave definitive statement to the rule
which had been evolving:

“An offence, in its legal signification, means the
transgression of a law.” 14 How., at 19.

“Every citizen of the United States is alsc a citizen
of a State or territory. He may be said to owe
allegiance to two sovereigns, and may be liable to
punishment for an infraction of the laws of either.
The same act may be an offence or transgression of
the laws of both.” 14 How., at 20.

“That either or both may (if they see fit) punish
such an offender, cannot be doubted. Yet it cannot

tions, id., at 72, but also suggests the possibility that under some
circumstances a state acquittal might not bar a federal prosecution,
id., at 74-75.
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be truly averred that the offender has been twice
punished for the same offence; but only that by one
act he has committed two offences, for each of which
he is justly punishable. He could not plead the
punishment by one in bar to a conviction by the
other.” [Ibid.

In a dozen cases decided by this Court between Moore
v. Illinois and United States v. Lanza this Court had
occasion to reaffirm the principle first enunciated in Fox
v. Ohio.® Since Lanza the Court has five times repeated
the rule that successive state and federal prosecutions are
not in violation of the Fifth Amendment.”* Indeed Mr.
Justice Holmes once wrote of this rule that it “is too plain
to need more than statement.” * One of the post-Lanza
cases, Jerome v. United States, 318 U. S. 101, involved
the same federal statute under which Bartkus was indicted
and in Jerome this Court recognized that successive state
and federal prosecutions were thereby made possible
because all States had general robbery statutes. None-
theless, a unanimous Court, as recently as 1943, accepted
as unquestioned constitutional law that such successive
prosecutions would not violate the proseription of double

18 United States v. Cruikshank, 92 U. 8. 542; Coleman v. Tennessee,
97 U. 8. 509; Ex parte Siebold, 100 U. S. 371; United States v. Arjona,
120 U. S. 479; Cross v. North Carolina, 132 U. 8. 131; In re Loney,
134 U. 8. 372; Pettibone v. United States, 148 U. 8. 197; Crossley v.
California, 168 U. S. 640; Sexton v. California, 189 U. S. 319; Matter
of Heff, 197 U. S. 488; Grafton v. United States, 206 U. S. 333;
Ponzi v. Fessenden, 258 U. S. 254.

20 Hebert v. Louistana, 272 U. 8. 312; Westfall v. United States,
274 U. S. 256; Puerto Rico v. The Skell Co., 302 U. S. 253; Jerome
v. United States, 318 U. S. 101; Screws v. United States, 325 U. S.
91.

2t Westfall v. United States, 274 U. S. 256, 258.
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jeopardy included in the Fifth Amendment. 318 U. S,
at 105.%

The lower federal courts have of course been in accord
with this Court.*®* Although some can be cited only in

22Tn a chapter in Handbook on Interstate Crime Control, a book
prepared in 1938 by the Interstate Commission on Crime, Gordon
Dean, then Special Executive Assistant to the Attorney General of
the United States, wrote: -

“Mention should also be made of the National Bank Robbery
statute. This statute punishes robberies of national banks, banks
which are members of the Federal Reserve System, and banks the
funds of which are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corpora-
tion. And here again there has been no usurpation by the federal
government. The states still may prosecute any robbery of any bank
within their jurisdiction, and they frequently do. There have been
several cases in the last few years where men have been convicted
both under the state and federal law for robbing the same bank.
In fact, there have been cases where men have been tried under the
law of one jurisdiction, acquitted, and on the same facts tried under
the law of the other sovereignty and convicted. Bank robbers know
today that ‘flight,” their most valuable weapon, has, under the opera-
tion of the National Bank Robbery statute, proved quite impotent.
The bank robbery rate has been cut in half, and there has been a
fine relation between state and federal agencies in the apprehension
and trial of bank robbers.” Id., at 114.

28 McKinney v. Landon, 209 F. 300 (C. A. 8th Cir.); Morris v.
United States, 229 F. 516 (C. A. 8th Cir.) ; Vandell v. United States,
6 F. 2d 188 (C. A. 2d Cir.); United States v. Levine, 129 F. 2d
745 (C. A. 2d Cir.) ; Serio v. United States, 203 F. 2d 576 (C. A. 5th
Cir.); Jolley v. United States, 232 F. 2d 83 (C. A. 5th Cir.); Smith
v. United States, 243 F. 2d 877 (C. A. 6th Cir.); Rios v. United
States, 266 F. 2d 173 (C. A. 9th Cir.); United States v. Amy,
24 Fed. Cas. No. 14445 (C. C. Va.); United States v. Given,
25 Fed. Cas. No. 15211 (C. C. Del.); United States v. Barnhart,
22 F. 285 (C. C. Ore.); United States v. Palan, 167 F. 991 (C. C.
S. D. N. Y.); United States v. Wells, 28 Fed. Cas. No. 16,665
(D. C. Minn.); United States v. Casey, 247 F. 362 (D. C. S. D.
Ohio) ; United States v. Holt, 270 F. 639 (D. C. N. Dak.); In re
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that they follow the decisions of this Court, others mani-
fest reflection upon the issues involved and express rea-
soned approval of the two-sovereignty principle. In
United States v. Barnhart, 22 F. 285, the Oregon Cir-
cuit Court was presented with a case just the obverse of
the present one: the prior trial and acquittal was by a
state court; the subsequent trial was by a federal court.
The Circuit Court rejected defendant’s plea of autrefois
acquit, saying that the hardship of the second trial might
operate to persuade against the bringing of a subsequent
prosecution but could not bar it.

The experience of state courts in dealing with succes-
sive prosecutions by different governments is obviously
also relevant in considering whether or not the Illinois
prosecution of Bartkus violated due process of law. Of
the twenty-eight States which have considered the va-
lidity of successive state and federal prosecutions as
against a challenge of violation of either a state consti-
tutional double-jeopardy provision or a common-law
evidentiary rule of autrefois acquit and autrefois convict,
twenty-seven have refused to rule that the second prose-

Morgan, 80 F. Supp. 810 (D. C. N. D. Iowa); United States v.
Mandile, 119 F. Supp. 266 (D. C. E. D. N. Y.). Of the many
prohibition cases in the lower federal courts only United States v.
Holt has been included; its inclusion is meant to represent that
body of cases and is particularly justified by its careful reasoning
concerning the entire question of dual sovereignties and double
jeopardy. It is believed that the list contains most of the nonpro-
hibition cases in the lower federal courts discussing and favoring the
rule that trial in one jurisdietion does not bar prosecution in another
for a different offense arising from the same act. Three lower federal
court cases have been found questioning the validity of the rule:
Ezx parte Houghton, 7 F. 657, 8 F. 897 (D. C. Vt.); In re Stubbs, 133
F. 1012 (C. C. W. D. Wash.); United States v. Candelaria, 131 F.
Supp. 797 (D. C. 8. D. Cal.).
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cution was or would be barred.** These States were not
bound to follow this Court and its interpretation of the
Fifth Amendment. The rules, constitutional, statutory,
or common law which bound them, drew upon the same

= StaTEs DENYING THE BAR.

Arizona. Henderson v. State, 30 Ariz. 113, 244 P. 1020 (despite a
limited statutory bar, holding successive federal and state pros-
ecutions permitted where one is for possession and the other for
transportation).

Arkansas. State v. Duncan, 221 Ark. 681, 255 S. W. 2d 430.

California. People v. McDonnell, 80 Cal. 285, 22 P. 190; People v.
Candelaria, 139 Cal. App. 2d 432, 294 P. 2d 120; People v. Can-
delaria, 153 Cal. App. 2d 879, 315 P. 2d 386 (these two Candelaria
cases indicate that the California statutory bar, a statute of the
kind discussed below, prevents a state robbery prosecution after a
federal robbery prosecution, but not a state burglary prosecution
in the same circumstances).

Georgia. Scheinfain v. Aldredge, 191 Ga. 479, 12 S. E. 2d 868;
Bryson v. State, 27 Ga. App. 230, 108 S. E. 63.

Illinois. Hoke v. People, 122 Ill. 511, 13 N. E. 823.

Indiana. Heier v. State, 191 Ind. 410, 133 N. E. 200; Dashing v.
State, 78 Ind. 357.

Iowa. State v. Moore, 143 Towa 240, 121 N. W. 1052.

Kentucky. Hall v. Commonwealth, 197 Ky. 179, 246 S. W. 441.

Louisiana. State v. Breauz, 161 La. 368, 108 So. 773, aff’d per cur.,
273 U. 8. 645.

Maine. See State v. Gauthier, 121 Me. 522, 529-531, 118 A. 380,
383-385.

Massachusetts. Commonwealth v. Nickerson, 236 Mass. 281, 128
N. E. 273.

Michigan. In re Illova, 351 Mich. 204, 88 N. W. 2d 589.

Minnesota. State v. Holm, 139 Minn. 267, 166 N. W. 181.

Missouri. In re January, 295 Mo. 653, 246 S. W. 241.

New Hampshire. State v. Whittemore, 50 N. H. 245.

New Jersey. State v. Cioffe, 130 N. J. L. 160, 32 A. 2d 79.

New York. People v. Welch, 141 N. Y. 266, 36 N. E. 328.

North Carolina. See State v. Brown, 2 N. C. *¥100, 101.

Oregon. State v. Frach, 162 Ore. 602, 94 P. 2d 143.

[Footnote 2 continued on p. 136.]
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experience as did the Fifth Amendment, but were and
are of separate and independent authority.

Not all of the state cases manifest careful reasoning,
for in some of them the language concerning double
jeopardy is but offthand dictum. But in an array of
state cases there may be found full consideration of the
arguments supporting and denying a bar to a second
prosecution. These courts interpreted their rules as not
proseribing a second prosecution where the first was by a
different government and for violation of a different
statute.

With this body of precedent as irrefutable evidence
that state and federal courts have for years refused to
bar a second trial even though there had been a prior
trial by another government for a similar offense, it would
be disregard of a long, unbroken, unquestioned course of
impressive adjudication for the Court now to rule that
due process compels such a bar. A practical justifica-
tion for rejecting such a reading of due process also com-

Pennsylvania. See Commonwealth ex rel. O’Brien v. Burke, 171 Pa.
Super. 273, 90 A. 2d 246.

South Carolina. State v. Tutt, 2 Bailey 44.

Tennessee. State v. Rhodes, 146 Tenn. 398, 242 S. W. 642; State v.
Rankin, 4 Coldw. 145.

Vermont. State v. O’Brien, 106 Vt. 97, 170 A. 98.

Virginia. Jett v. Commonwealth, 18 Gratt. (59 Va.) 933.

Washington. State v. Kenney, 83 Wash. 441, 145 P. 450.

West Virginia. State v. Holesapple, 92 W. Va. 645, 115 S. E. 794.
See Moundsville v. Fountain, 27 W. Va. 182, 197-198.

Wyoming. See In re Murphy, 5 Wyo. 297, 304-309, 40 P. 398,
399-401.

STATE RaIsiNG THE Bar.

Florida. Burrows v. Moran, 81 Fla. 662, 89 So. 111 (this case may be
limited to the interpretation given by the Florida court to the
Eighteenth Amendment. See Strobhar v. State, 55 Fla. 167,
180-181, 47 So. 4, 9).
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mends itself in aid of this interpretation of the Four-
teenth Amendment. In Screws v. United States, 325
U. S. 91, defendants were tried and convicted in a federal
court under federal statutes with maximum sentences of
a year and two years respectively. But the state crime
there involved was a capital offense. Were the federal
prosecution of a comparatively minor offense to prevent
state prosecution of so grave an infraction of state law, the
result would be a shocking and untoward deprivation of
the historic right and obligation of the States to maintain
peace and order within their confines. It would be in
derogation of our federal system to displace the reserved
power of States over state offenses by reason of prosecu-
tion of minor federal offenses by federal authorities
beyond the control of the States.?

Some recent suggestions that the Constitution was in
reality a deft device for establishing a centralized gov-
ernment are not only without factual justification but fly
in the face of history. It has more accurately been shown
that the men who wrote the Constitution as well as the
citizens of the member States of the Confederation were
fearful of the power of centralized government and sought
to limit its power. Mr. Justice Brandeis has written that
separation of powers was adopted in the Constitution “not
to promote efficiency but to preclude the exercise of ar-
bitrary power.” * Time has not lessened the concern of
the Founders in devising a federal system which would
likewise be a safeguard against arbitrary government.

25 Illinois had an additional and unique interest in Bartkus beyond
the commission of this particular crime. If Bartkus was guilty of
the crime charged he would be an habitual offender in Illinois and
subject to life imprisonment. The Illinois court sentenced Bartkus
to life imprisonment on this ground.

26 Myers v. United States, 272 U. S. 52, 240, 293 (dissenting
opinion).
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The greatest self-restraint is necessary when that fed-
eral system yields results with which a court is in little
sympathy.

The entire history of litigation and contention over the
question of the imposition of a bar to a second prosecu-
tion by a government other than the one first prosecuting
is a manifestation of the evolutionary unfolding of law.
Today a number of States have statutes which bar a see-
ond prosecution if the defendant has been once tried by
another government for a similar offense.” A study of
the cases under the New York statute,” which is typical of
these laws, demonstrates that the task of determining
when the federal and state statutes are so much alike that
a prosecution under the former bars a prosecution under
the latter is a difficult one.?® The proper solution of that
problem frequently depends upon a judgment of the
gravamen of the state statute. It depends also upon an
understanding of the scope of the bar that has been his-
torically granted in the State to prevent successive state
prosecutions. Both these problems are ones with which
the States are obviously more competent to deal than is
this Court. Furthermore, the rules resulting will inti-
mately affect the efforts of a State to develop a rational
and just body of eriminal law in the protection of its citi-
zens. We ought not to utilize the Fourteenth Amend-

27 Some fifteen such statutes are listed in Tentative Draft No. 5 of
the American Law Institute’s Model Penal Code (1956), p. 61.

2 N. Y. Penal Code § 33 and N. Y. Code Crim. Proc. § 139.

29 People ex rel. Liss v. Superintendent of Women’s Prison, 282
N. Y. 115,25 N. E. 2d 869; People v. Mangano, 269 App. Div. 954,
57 N. Y. S. 2d 891 (2d Dept.) aff’d sub nom. People v. Mignogna,
206 N. Y. 1011, 73 N. E. 2d 583; People v. Spitzer, 148 Mise. 97,
266 N. Y. S. 522 (Sup. Ct.); People v. Parker, 175 Misc. 776, 25
N. Y. S. 2d 247 (Kings County Ct.); People v. Eklof, 179 Misec.
536, 41 N. Y. S. 2d 557 (Richmond County Ct.); People v. Adam-
chesky, 184 Misc. 769, 55 N. Y. 8. 2d 90 (N. Y. County Ct.).
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ment to interfere with this development. Finally, experi-
ence such as that of New York may give aid to Congress
in its consideration of adoption of similar provisions in
individual federal ecriminal statutes or in the federal
criminal code.*

Precedent, experience, and reason alike support the con-
clusion that Alfonse Bartkus has not been deprived of due

process of law by the State of Illinois.
Affirmed.

[For dissenting opinion of MR. JusticE Brack, see
post, p. 150.]

[For dissenting opinion of MR. JUSTICE BRENNAN, see
post, p. 164.]

% In specific instances Congress has included provisions to prevent
federal prosecution after a state prosecution based upon similar con-
duct. See, e. g., 18 U. 8. C. § 2117 (burglary of vehicle of transpor-
tation carrying interstate or foreign shipments).

495957 O-59-14




OCTOBER TERM, 1958.

140

359 U. S.

Appendix to Opinion of the Court.

‘SIB[[OP A9JU UBYY) SSI[ ST ASIOA
-0IJUOd Ul JUNOUIE dY} UIYM
Xx18 Jo Ainl £q 811} 9zioyIne
Aeur aanye[SIFO] ey} 9dooxd
1ydu Linl searasexd ‘2 § ‘T "MV

W “Tepiuas ‘g § Ty

“Te[rurs ‘6 § T MY

aejrwurs ¢

9§ T WV

| “Tepruais 1 ‘6 §§ T My

2 F¥8I
49981
*AosIop MAN

reqruns g § ‘r MWy

‘SIB[[OP polpuNny 9uo JIgpun
§988D Ul 998B9J 93 JO SI913snp
£q rewn} poyjtuured ‘ZGRT Ul
Paynyel ‘22 § ‘I 34ed 03 syuour
-puswiB Jngq ‘IB[IWIS XX ‘MY

(. 91B[OTA
-ul  urewal [BYs Ainl Aq
el Jo y3u 9y, ‘13 § T "WV

'sosed [By1ded ur Ajuo
[eury Ainf sedjusiensd JAX "WV

“Ie[rwls ‘6 § ‘T WY

UL

o FE8T
49981

1

“998SaU U9 J,

2"C6LT
+°9981
arysdure [y maN

*3J1[ J0J jyuauruostid
-uIl 10 yjeep Aq a[qewysiund s1
owILID JI A[uo juauijorput Ainf
pueis 01 JYSI s9AI3 ‘6§ ‘T "Wy

NOILVOIJILVY 40 NOILVAVIDOY NI dHLSIT SELVLS

|
|
|

>'81I8T

+<998T
*IN21393UUO)

& " ° " pdasosaad
aq [[8ys Aani £q [e1n Jo Y3 ayy ‘sig|
=[op Ajudmj PIIIXD [[BYS ASISAOIIUO0D Ul
SN[UA Y} JIN[M ‘M E[ ZOWIOD J¥ BJInS U],

INAWANIINY HLNAAAS

e ° ° ° Am( peniedun uw £q ‘[e1n drqnd
pue 4p2eds ® 0} I ) Leful [jeys
pPosnode ay) suonndasosd [vuywILd |8 uJ,,

ﬁ INTIWANAWY HLXIS

« **° Anp puwiy) e jo

| JuauI}dIpul JO JUSWIUISIId B O SSI[UN
QU SNOWRJUI ISIMIY)0 1o ‘[vjided
® J0J IdMBUR 0) P|3Y 3q [[eys uosixd oN,,

LNANWANANWYV HLA

'UOTU[) 9Y} 0} UOISSIUWIPE JO IBIX po
"UOISSIWIPE 10 UOI)BIYIYRI JO 9)€p UO 3999 UI UOIINIIISuod jo uorpdope jo J1esyx »
"JUSUIPUSIWY YJUSIYINO] 9Yj JO UOI}BIYIYBI JO IBIX .

"LHN100 HHL 40 NOINIdO OL XIANHddV




141

BARTKUS v. ILLINOIS.

Appendix to Opinion of the Court.

121

‘uelg g ‘Surpue)sispu() [BuUIdIQ I,

“(uBUWIIB] S® PIYI0 I3)JBUIBIAY) G "ASY T

‘82 § ‘TIIA WY
"SIB[[OpP paipuny 931y} o} dn
S9SBY A1) 0} UOKIIPSLIN{ UIALS
olom sogpnl yang g1 § ‘III
)y 998 99U} JO SIOISnf
9I0J9q S[BWY} Ul X Jo Ainf
YSI[qBIS3 pINOId 3INnyB[SIFa|
18y} papraoid gi81 jo uon
-Njsu0))  “IB[IWIS um I "MV
‘G § ‘I] "1y "eomed oyy
JO S991ISNf 940Ja(q S9SBO [IAID
Ul 9A[oM1} uBY) sSO] Jo Ainl 10}
apraoxd p[noo aInje[side] 3ey)
poplaoid (87 jo uonnjns
-uoy)

“repuuls ‘g § ‘7 "y

aepuis ‘9§ TIIX MV |

uﬂ_ﬁ:m mw ‘1 f<

4

aepwais ‘g § ‘I1 t<

Caegus 1§ I WY

8§

$SIYSIY Jo g 9Y3 33BIOAIOOUT JUSWIPUSWY YJUI}MOJ 93 SO .:dabdm*

2'€9-1981
+"LOST
“BIUISIIA 950 M

refuuns ‘g1 § T MY

‘II 91y °S9SBO [[B Ul PIYSI
| -[oq® aq pnod Ainf pueisd ayy 'SR
[ 9843 papraoad 0287 jo oL TS 41981
Hﬂ_c:m ‘6 § ‘TIIX "MV | -zob “IepiuIs: ‘of § H:N €< m:E::
! 2" 1681
ﬁ *'26 'd ‘uewr S'L98T
“reprwis ‘01 § ‘T "MV | -1Bq 99g .E_E:w ‘01 § H ﬁ | L UL(E)
| 2"9¥81
_ 4" L98T
s ‘g § p uy 7 requats ‘g § ‘1 My "HIO X moN
[ = N, |
2"€6L1
_ 9987
IR[IWIS ‘01 f< H %EO ELENS _ *JUOULIS A
_ _ 2" LG8I
_ | +998T
“IeqiuIs ‘I1 § T Hy | “pueg | "uOBHIO




OCTOBER TERM, 1958.

142

359 U. 8.

Appendix to Opinion of the Court.

‘901 "d ‘uewrarB g 998

we)shs Ainp puwiy) ay9 ysi 2"TG8T
-[og® 10 £fipowr ABw A[qUIOSSY +"2981
“reqrus 0z § ‘1 1y “Tenuals ‘g1 § ‘T MY | [80ULY) oY, AT § ‘TIA "MV "BUBIPU
*81IN0D *8§9.I109
yons jo uopdrpsun{ oy} Jjo yons jo uondipsunl oyl Jjo
sj1w] 99 AJ199ds jou sa0p pue s11ut] 9y} AJ199ds jou s90p pue ‘82 § ‘II 31y "d1Ipul
‘82 § ‘II "Wy ‘piooal jo jou ‘82 § ‘II "1y ‘pio9al Jo jou Avw AIn[ pusi3 9y} WO uUIW
$3IN0D Ul JA[OM] UBY) SSI| JO 814002 Ul 9A[OM] UBY) SS9 JO 9A[PM] 8(7} JO 9UIU }8BY]) PIpia 2"GO8T
sown( syrunaad G281 JO uUOINGIYS soran( syruaaad ¢ /8T JO UOIINIIS -0ad €1 91 G287 JO UOIINIIISUO)) 4’2981
-uo) oyy, Iepruus L1 § ‘T MY | -u0) oy, Jefrwls ‘T § ‘T MY | dyy ul Iepmis ‘g § ‘I WY "ANOSSTIN
"S9SBI [IATO 2 7981
ut Lanf ayj jo 930A SYINOJ +"L981
-991y3 % 10J sapraoad ‘g § ‘T MY rejiwais ‘g § ‘7T Uy ‘Te[IuIls ‘g § ‘1 My "BPBAIN
2"6181
+"L981
“Iepruts ‘0g § ‘I "My “repruts ‘9 § ‘T 1y “Tefrots 4, § ‘1 Ay "uUIB I
26981
+°L98T
eI ‘¢ § ‘s1uSry jo mig -rerius ‘o1 § ‘syysry jo md ‘10T “d ‘UBWNBY R9F  “USIY "SESUBI]
PaNUI}U0)—NOILVOMILVY J0 NOILVAVIOOHJ NI QEISI| SHLVIQ
W+ - paAssoxd « * " Amp purin ®jJo

3q [eqs Amf £q [e1n jo YIS gy ‘sie|
-lop Ajudm} pIVIXD [[BYS ASIIAONIUOCD Ul
IN[CA I} JIYM ‘M E| UOCWIIOD J€ S)INS Uf,,

INAWANAWY HLNIATS

« ° °° AInf peppaeduny ue Aq ‘[eiy qnd
pue Apaads e 0) jy3d ayj ALofud [[vYysS
Pasnade a3y} suonndosesd [BulwII |{e uj,,

LNFWANIWYV HLXIS

JuduIdipul Io judunulsaid v uo ssIun
‘W) SNowvjul ISIMIAYI0 Jo ‘[B)Ided
© 10j JOMSUE 0) P[3Y aq [[eys uosiad oN,,

LNIWANINWY HLJAIA




143

BARTKUS v. ILLINOIS.

Appendix to Opinion of the Court.

121

(Jyaourysrund

snowreyur I0 [831ded,, FurAjoA 2"08LT
-ur s9s¥d JO [BLI) 0} JyIur Ainf 42981
TB[IWIS ‘AX MY ‘Weq i8I | 81019891 ‘IIX WY ‘MBg IsIg “JUIg "§379SNYIBSSBIN
*$3dN00 YONs JO WOIOIPSIIN{ ayy
Jo sytwal 9y} Ajroads jou seop
uornIIsuod JyJ, ‘plodds jo 2"0G81
10U $1dNOO UI dA[dM]} UBY) SSI[ ‘911 4" 1981
reqrus ‘2z § ‘TA "Wy | Jo sounf sytuired ‘gz § ‘TA My | —GTT dd ‘uswiiieq 998 udg "UBIIYOI A
2"8E81
+"L98T
“refrus ‘g § ‘X1 MY Iepwrs ‘6 § ‘X1 MY “repruais ‘0T § ‘X1 MV “BIUBA[ASUUDJ
‘T11-011 "dd ‘uewareq
998 I WY ‘Sjuswpudumy
‘judwgoipulr Linf pusig
B Jnoyym suoinaasold jruused 2"8F81
0] POPUSWIE SBM UOIINIISUOD 42981
Jeprws ‘g § ‘T My “repruts ‘4 § ‘I MY | 9Y) 08T UL CIe[Iwls ‘g § ‘T My "UISUOISI M
2'G¥8I
+' L1981

“Tefruts ‘qT § ‘T "y

“Tepiwie ‘o1 § T MY

“I[ruas 2 § ‘7 1y

‘PuBIST spoyy

*918Q9p (SINOY
XIS UBY} SS9 10U I3J8 90Ip
-I9A SUJIXIS-9AY B J0J 9praoid
0} aanyeIside) ayg jrurrad 09
pepuswIB S¥M UOTIN)IISUOI By}
068T Ul yng “Je[ruils f § T Wy

“Ie[iws ‘9 § ‘1 My

JUI[LS

2’981

4" L981
"BIOSUUTIA




OCTOBER TERM, 1958.

144

359 U. 8.

Appendix to Opinion of the Court.

‘9 W ~H .a~<

'S3IN0D  JOLIoJul,,

28981
+"898T
Tepuuis p § 7 Wy “refruas p § 7 v "Ig[IuIts ‘6 § I My "BpLIOL
28981
+'898T
relws ‘g § 7 My epws ‘g § T Ry s Y6 § T MY ‘SESUBYIY
«S1N0D “JUSUIOTPUI JNOYIIM SUOHNID | 2" LG8T
JOLI9JUI UI,, 9A[OM] UBY) SSI| -soad pojyrwrred HRRQT ur jusw | 4"8981
Jo soumnl sozuoyne ‘6 § ‘1 "Wy “reqrws 07 § ‘T My | -puewe uy  cxepruns ‘I1§ ‘T MY | "BMOT
"€31-231 "dd ‘uBuwirey a9g
91 § ‘IA MV _ 'GL8T jo uory
-n1Isu0)) 9y} £q SIB[[OP puss
-noyy suo o} dn worjorpsuni
UQAIS 9I9M ‘S[BUNQII} JOLIdJUL
[ons 918 YIYM ‘§1dn0d A4uno))
(¢ 1IN0D 1OTIISIP
9y} 0} JOLIBJUI S}IN0Y,, Ul PBIAX ‘$21-¢z1 'dd ‘urw
0] poioj[e sBm uoisiaoid ag) -8 998 01 § ‘T "My "we)
G281 JO uonnjnsuo) ayj} ujy -sfs Lin[ pueid a9yl yYsiogs
Ul 9A[aM] P[No2 oInje[side] oY} IBYY 2"29-9981
uBy) 889] Jo saranf azuioyins 0} popraoad ¢281 JO UOINIIS 1"2981
aInye[sigo] spwtad ‘g § ‘T Ay Ieprwals ‘2 § ‘7 Wy | -uo) ey, cCIepruais ‘g § ‘T Ay | “BYSBIYON

1

PInuju0o)—NOILVOIJILYY J0 NOILVWVT

00¥J NI QEISIT SELVLY

w ° 7 paAnsosd
3q |jeys Amf £q [e1n jo ysu IY) ‘sre|
-jop Ajadsaj pIIVX [[EiB LBISACHUSS Gi

oNjeA O} IISYM ‘M E| UOUNUOD )8 K)INS uf,,

LNIWANINY HLNIAIS

™

= = - Amf [enJedun uv £q ‘jewn a1 qnd

pue Apaads ® 0} Y3l Iy} Lofud [[eys

P

| " ad | LI [[8 u],,

LINIWANIWY HLXIS

« °° T Alnfp puel u jo
juduUNIIpUl JO JudWuILAMd B U0 SSAUN
‘ourJd SNOWBJUl ISIMIAYI0 Jo ‘[eyided

T Joj JOMSUE 0} p[3Y 3q [[8YS uosiad oN,,

LNIWANTANWY HLAM




145

BARTKUS v. ILLINOIS.

Appendix to Opinion of the Court.

121

U380 UO P3[Y 30U SI 30UJIP
9[QBNSSI UB 9IdYM ‘}OBIJUOD UO
Popunoj sosB89 [1AI0 [[8 ul,, L1nf
oYM juomdpnl Jopusas uBd

- Arerpusjiuad
ay) ur juewuostidwl 0 y3eap
UM 9[qeysiund 90U SOUILID
e A1 Asyy {spano) 9011}
-SI(] Jo uonorpsumf syy ssugop
‘2P P § ‘A MY usass Jo
Ainf B 01 pauig 2q [[BYs #dpnp

11no)) Joredng 9y} 98Y) S0I8)S JOLIYSI(] B 910J9Q SISUILO 18Y) 2"898T
‘e P ‘e § ‘A Wy Ing ae s998s ‘G [0 F § ‘A "MV Ing +"8981
-twuts 9q 03 sieadde ‘@1 § ‘A "1y | IB[IwiIs 8q 0} sivadde ‘2 § ‘T 1Ay QUG *BI31031)
2"L98T
+"898T
“reqrurs ‘er § 1y Igpruls ‘g § 7y “refius ‘01 § 7 MV “ewreqely
91T "WV
‘S)9IpISA  SNOWIUBUN UBYY)
ssa] 10§ apraoid 03 paramodura L MY COA[M) UBY) SS9 JO
ST 2IN)B[SIS9] oY) L8] JO UOI} £Linf € 103 ap1aoid Aguwr ainge|
-njipsuo)) uj -papraoid aq -S189] 9Y3 ,,}8BOP I0 10GB[ pPIey
posu [eLI} LInl ou sie[[op PaIp 18 juemiuosldwl A[LIBSS929U 251 “d ‘uswas g
-uny auo 03 dn jsed 38 1By} jou s1 Ajeuad,, aIoyM 9By} 93 "UOIEBWIOJUI IO UMW 2"8981
S9YBOIPUL ‘48 MY ‘AT ONILL Ppopraoad s1 91 6287 JO UOHININS -yo1pul £q ungoq aq 09 suoly +'898T
'Sy jo g ul uoistaoxd ON | -uo) uy CIB[IWIS ‘9 )1y ‘T 9L, | -nossoad syrurrad ‘9 Iy ‘T OILL “euBISINOTT
28981
+ 8981
“reprwls 17 § 7 1y “repruns T ‘eT §§ T 1y reruals ‘61 § ‘T MY | “BUI0IBD Y3nog
o £11edoad Surpoadsax 2"808T
MB] )8 SOISIDA0IJUOI,, O} 99JUB 1'898T

-1en3g oy ruar] Aew ‘61 § ‘I "MV

epus ‘gr § ‘f My

“repruts ‘gL § ‘I MY

“BUI[0IB)) YIION




OCTOBER TERM, 1958.

146

359 U.S.

Appendix to Opinion of the Court.

 We9sAs
Lin[-puBi3 9y} gsijoqes Io ‘098]
-n3a1 ‘o3usyd Aewr A|quosss

[BIoUad oYL, :98Y)} S9pIA
*dATOM) UBYY) SSO[ -0xd 0S[B 9] "}0IPUI UBD WOYM 2'9281
98 Lm[ ayj Jo 9zIs 9y 495 0} 30 ouru ‘9ATaM) ATUO 9A%®Y [[BYS p2"9.81
aanye[si3o] syrwuaad ‘gz § ‘IT "MV “refruars ‘gg ‘91 §§ ‘II "1y | Aunl puead sepraoid ‘gz § ‘1T "MV ‘opBIO[oD
EZHEQZHE< HINAALYNO0] HHL 40 NOILLVOIJILVY HHL Mma:mdw ZOmZD AHL OL Qﬂ.ﬁ.ﬁ:aﬁ< SHELVLS
‘UoI)BUIIOIUI IO JUIW}IIP 2"8981
-ulr uo s8urpesocad [BUTWIIIO 0281
Te[Iuls ‘91 § ‘A WV “refruls ‘g1 ‘g §§ ‘T v | Jo woyminmsut syrunrad ‘g § 1 1Ay SEXI,
>"898T
IRt +°0L8T
aeqruls ‘g § ‘1 WV “xeqrurs ‘2 § ‘7 "MV refiwis ‘1 § ‘1 WY “ddississt
2"F981
46981
Iefuls ‘U1 § ‘1 Hy Te[uis ‘g § ‘7 My ‘queqg “BIUIBITA
NOILVOIJILVY Jd0 NOILVINVIOOHJ HALAY vamNn:_H}:MH wﬂﬁﬂhw
o "t poalesasd & °° ° Amg puu ® jo

aq [leys Am[ Aq [e1d) Jo Jy3u ay) ‘saw]
-[0p AJudm) paIIIXI [[BYS ASIGAOIIUOD Ul
SRIVA Y} SJOYA ‘s U] UOUNUOS JB BYIMS U],

INTFWANTIWY HINJTAAS

« °°* Amf [epiedwl ue £q ‘(81D d

pue Apoads = 0) py¥x 2qy fefuw2 fege

=== I

PIsSN20E Y} SUOHINIIS0Ad [BUTWLID [[€ U],

INTFWANIWYV HLXIS

) 1put 1o judun d & uo I

‘WD Snowrejul JIFIMIY)0 Jo ‘[eyided

© Joj JOMSUE 0} P aq [[¥ys uocssad ON,,
LNAWANINWY HLJAIA




147

BARTKUS v. ILLINOIS.

Appendix to Opinion of the Court.

121

‘J9IPI2A SYINOJ
-994y3 ® 10j sepilaoad ‘2 § ‘T "J1y

*19IAUOI UBD JOIPIIA
SYIXIS-9AY B SIOUBIWAPSIW
I0J 98y} sopraoad ‘2 § ‘T "y

‘YU WIIIPUL IO UOI)BULIOJUL
£q SuoOr9® [BUIWILID JO UOTY}
-n3jsut 1oy sepiaoid ‘g § T WY

26881
»2 0681
"oy®p]

*p109a1
JO jJ0U $}IN0D UI dA[OM) UBYY
$s9] Jo soun[ 10] puw pIoIdAIX
JO §3INn00 Ul 9IIPISA SYIINOJ
-991Y) ® 10] sopraoid ‘1z § ‘1 "MV

Tequars ‘1z § ‘T WV

‘s8urpesoold BUIUILID
9)BIJIUTI 0} UONBWIOJUI JO
asn ay) suonouss ‘gg § T "My

2'6881
po 6881
‘u0)3uryse p

‘payjrurzad
a1 9A[am] UBYY) SSO] Jo saranl
PI093I JO J0U S)INOD U]  "3)0A
SUJINO0J-991y) JI0J opiaoid 09
aangu[side] syrurad ‘g § ‘TA "MV

repruars ‘2 ‘9 §§ TA WV

FNERIDE)
Lin[ pueid3 ayj3 ysioqe 03
aInje[sida] oy} spwidd puw
JUoWIOIPUL IO  UOIJBWLIOJUL
£q SuoI}OB [BUIWILIO JO UOINY
-1sur 10} sapiaoxd ‘01 § ‘TA "WV

2"688T
po 6881
"BJONB( YINOS

02 § TIIA
)1y SIB[[OpP PpaIpuny oaIy)
07 dn uora1psunf 9ABY §1an02
yong ‘suosIad Xis uBy) SI0wW
jou jo poesodwiod SI aNOI
soomsnp B ur Lmnfl 9yj aiowr
-19YJIny  ‘JOIPIdA SPIIY)-OM1)
® Joj sopraoid ‘gz § ‘IIT "MV

191AUOY O} JUSIOIYNE
ST 9J0A SPIIYj-0M3} 8 AUO[e) ®
0] Jupjunouwrs j0U SUOI}OB [vU
-1WILID UI 38YY) Sop1aoid uo1}99s
ne ouy, g3 ‘9T §§ ‘TII "WV

“jorput
uBd woym Jo 9Ay ‘suosiad
UJADS 9ABY [[BYS 1 PIYSI[(8)Sd
aq Aun[ pusid ® JI 98Y) SoplA
-oxd pue uonBwIojur £q UOI)
-noosoad sywzed ‘g § ‘III "MV

2'6881

po 6881
"BUBJUO

“IB3[0 J0U
st uoraipsunl jo uoryeaurep
9Y) Inq ‘pI09al JO §)IN0I 0}
93juBIBNG S)I syrwly L § T MY

“Te[iwis 4 § T My

-ma)sAs Linf-pueld ay3 ysijoqs
Aeur 2In)BISIFA] 9Y) 18Y) S998)S
Os[E INQq ‘SOIUO[dj JIOJ USW
-jorpur sedjuerend ‘g § ‘I “4dy

2'6881
po 6881
*BJOYB(J YIION



OCTOBER TERM, 1958.

148

359 U.S.

Appendix to Opinion of the Court.

19IPISA SYJINOJ-99aY)
B 10y sepraord ‘61 § ‘II "WV

XIS
Jo seunl yjim paysIjqe)se aae
S3IN0Y IOLIBJU] 'SOWILI) I3Y}0
JO [BLI1} Ul SYINOJ-331Y) A[uo
qnq ‘sesB) AUO[d] Ul 3OIPISA
snowrtugun saambal ‘61 § ‘1T MV

*)9IPUL 0} PIPIU dUU
‘s10anf sAeM) Jo pesodwiod agq
03 st ‘Aus J1 ‘Ainl pusi3 ® 38y}
soptaoxd ‘@] § ‘[T "Iy  "uon
-BULIOJUI IO JUSWI)NPUT Aq UOTY
-noagsoad syrmred ‘247 § ‘II WV

2°L061
po LO6T
"BWOYR[YO

"970A SYIINOJ
-991y} Aq 199IpIOA ‘INOJ jO
Amf ® 0} s1 1811} uorjarpsunf
IOLI9JUI JO S3IN0D U] 904
SY3IN0J-991Y9} £q 491pIaA 4yl
jo Ll B 03 9q T[BYS [BLY
uorjoipsunl [B1ousd jo §3IN03
ur 9ey} sepraoid ‘o1 § T "WV

Inoj jo Ainl B aq [[eYs 219y}
‘uorjorpsun{ 019Ul JO S}IN0D
ur Jt yy3w jo Linl ® aq jreys
919y} ‘uongorpsunl [BIduad jo
$34N09 Ul J1 ‘suoijndesord 19130
u] °sesBo 1BjIdeo ur Auo Linl
[BuoIpeI) s9Addsaxd ‘g1 § ‘T 1Y

SRR
9AY ‘uoAss Jo AInfl purid B £Aq
nq ‘QuouI}dIpul SI JAI)BUIS)
-[& 9Yyj} {UOI}BULIOJUI UO POLI)
9q Avw 9y 9)BI)SIdew Yans Aq
PIoY ST pasnoade ayj JI pus 9981}
-SI3Bw JuUN)IUWWod B 3I0Jaq
jysnoiq oq Avw o8Ieyd IY)
1S9AI}BUId)E SIBPO ‘€T § ‘I "My

2°C681
»0°9681
“yeI)

‘8ATOM) UBY)
ssoT jo semnl ysriqelse o} aIngy

-B[s1391 oYy spwred ‘6 § ‘T v

“xeqiuls ‘6 § ‘7 MV

‘urdyshs Linf-puead ay)
ysijoqe 1o aduryd 0} paramod
-wd SI 9IN)BISISA] 9Y,], "JoIpUI
UEd WOYM JO JUIU ‘9A[9M) JO
pesodwmod aq [[im Linl pueid
ay] jey) saptaoxd ‘6 § ‘T "1y
‘popraoxd  9SIMIAY)0  [I3uUN
Ain([ puead senurpuod ‘gr § ‘I "My

2"688T

p» 0681
“Burwo A p

PINUIjuo)—INEWNANTINY HL

NEFLEAO] HHIL 40 NOILVOIAILVY

THL 4d1dYy NOIN() HHI OL AILLINAY

SELVILY

« ° ° ° poaAsesaxd
3q [{vyYs Lm{ £q [el) Jo Y3 By} ‘sI8|
-[0p AJuU3m} paIVIXI [[BYS ASISA0IJUOD Ul
ON[BA 9Y) 2I9YM ‘M 8| UOUIWOD }B B)INS UJ,,

LNIWANIWV HLNIAIS

« ° " Amf [enJedun ue £q ‘[e1n Aiqnd
pue Apoads v 0} jydd ay) Lofua [[BYS
P ay3} suoy id [eulwEn (¥ uf,

INIWANINWY HLXIS

« °° ° Amp puwman v jo
JuUdWPIIPUI IO JuduUISId ® uo ssajuUn
‘Wl SNOWBJUl JISIMIYI0 10 ‘[Bjided
® J0j IoMSUB 01 P[oY aq [[eYS uosixd ON,,

LNAWANINWY HLALI




149

BARTKUS ». ILLINOIS.

Appendix to Opinion of the Court.

121

‘SOIISOP OS SINYBI[SIZI
979} JI 930A SUYINOJ-931Y} Aq
8( 0] SI S9SBI YONS Ul JIPISA
Ay} ‘elowIvYlIng  PaA[oA
-ul st sIB[jop A5y pue paip
-Uny oM9} uey) aJour j1 A[uo
L[ & 103 sepraoid ‘g1 § ‘T "2y

*S1IN0Y yons jo
symay]  peuonjarpsunf  £joads
J0U SOOp PUB ‘pI0JSI JO J0U
$3IN0J UL 9A[0M] PUB XIS UMY
-oq jo sewunl 1o} apraord 09
aanye[side] syrwaed ‘11 § ‘T "My

*)9Ipur UBd
woyM Jo Ljaofewr e ‘oAtomy
Jo sI Lin[ puri3 ayj nq ‘Ain(
pueld seojueIieng ‘g § ‘1 "y

2"8G61
po 6961
“BYSB[Y

XIS Jo somn[ ysiqe)sa
uBd AIn)eIside] oY} ‘(9g §
‘TA "MV ‘s1e[iop paipuny omj
0} dn uopaipsunl usArd aq
uBd 9989J oY) JO sI21ISnp)
SHINO)) 191IYSI(f Oy} uwyj)
JoMO] SHN0Y AQ 9[qBLI} S9SBI
U] °9)0A SNOWIUBUN-UBY)
-889] ® I0J apraoid 03 aanjey
-S139] oyy syrurred gy § ‘II WY

“reruts ‘g1 § ‘II MV

*)o1pur ued Lquoleux
® ‘9A[9M) UBY) SI0UWI JT “)IIp
-ur usd JYIJL ‘sioanf sAom)
ale ooy} Ji {siounl oAm}
1889] 98 9A%Y Isnuw Ain[ puead
‘quemijotpur £q JJ juow
-19IpUl JO UOI}BULIOJUI JOYIIO
Aq sBurpesdord [eurwILIO JO
uonyenyur syruted T § IT WY

2" TI61
po GI6L

‘OOIXaJA] MAN

*pI099a1
JO 10U S3IN0Y UI 9A[OM] UBY)
SS9 JO selun[ pu®s Ppiooal Jo
S3IN09 Ul }9IPIdA SYIINOJ-3IY)
® UsI[qe)se AvWI 9INn)e[SIFO]
9y} y8yy sopraoxd ‘gz § II MV

*SIOUBIWIIPSIWL [[B J9AO UOT)
-01psSLIn[ YA §3IN09 YOS 1$9A
uBY 9INYB[SIFO] 9)BOIPUI ABUI
‘o1 ‘9 §§ TA "MV 'pIodal jo
10U $1IN0J Ul DA[OM]) UBYY SSI]
jo soum( syrured ‘gz § IT "MV

UL
-}9TpuUl IO UOI}BULIOJUI IS}
£q sSurpesdoid [eurwILId jo
uoryenrur syrutad ‘og § ‘IT "MV

2'0161
po'GI6T
*BUOZIIY



OCTOBER TERM, 1958.
Brack, J., dissenting. 359 U. 8.

MRg. Justice Brack, with whom THE CHIEF JUSTICE
and Mr. JusTicE DouGLAS concur, dissenting.

Petitioner, Bartkus, was indicted in a United States
District Court for bank robbery. He was tried by a jury
and acquitted. So far as appears the trial was conducted
fairly by an able and conscientious judge. Later, Bartkus
was indicted in an Illinois state court for the same bank
robbery. This time he was convicted and sentenced to
life imprisonment. His acquittal in the federal court
would have barred a second trial in any court of the
United States because of the provision in the Fifth
Amendment that no person shall “be subject for the same
offence to be twice put in jeopardy of life or limb.” The
Court today rejects Bartkus’ contention that his state
conviction after a federal acquittal violates the Fourteenth
Amendment to our Constitution. I cannot agree.

The Court’s holding further limits our already weak-
ened constitutional guarantees against double prosecu-
tions. Unated States v. Lanza, 260 U. S. 377, decided in
1922, allowed federal convietion and punishment of a man
who had been previously convicted and punished for the
identical acts by one of our States. Today, for the first
time in its history, this Court upholds the state conviction
of a defendant who had been acquitted of the same offense
in the federal courts. I would hold that a federal trial
following either state acquittal or conviction is barred by
the Double Jeopardy Clause of the Fifth Amendment.
Abbate v. United States, post, p. 201 (dissenting opin-
ion). And, quite apart from whether that clause is as
fully binding on the States as it is on the Federal Govern-
ment, see Adamson v. California, 332 U. S. 46, 68 (dis-
senting opinion), I would hold that Bartkus’ conviection
cannot stand. For I think double prosecutions for the
same offense are so contrary to the spirit of our free coun-
try that they violate even the prevailing view of the




BARTKUS w». ILLINOIS. 151

121 Brack, J., dissenting.

Fourteenth Amendment, expressed in Palko v. Connecti-
cut, 302 U. S. 319.

The Fourteenth Amendment, this Court said in Palko,
does not make all of the specific guarantees of the Bill of
Rights applicable to the States. But, the Court noted,
some of ‘“the privileges and immunities” of the Bill of
Rights, “have been taken over . . . and brought within
the Fourteenth Amendment by a process of absorption.”
302 U. S, at 326. The Court indicated that incorporated
in due process were those “principle[s] of justice so rooted
in the traditions and conscience of our people as to be
ranked as fundamental.” 302 U.S., at325.2 It then held
that a statute allowing a State to appeal in a criminal
case did not violate such fundamental principles. But it
expressly left open the question of whether “the state
[could be] permitted after a trial free from error to try the
accused over again.” 302 U. S., at 328. That question
is substantially before us today.

Fear and abhorrence of governmental power to try
people twice for the same conduct is one of the oldest ideas
found in western civilization. Its roots run deep into

! While I participated in the Court’s holding and opinion in Palko
I have since expressed my disagreement with both, as has Mg. Jus-
TICE DoucLas. Adamson v. California, 332 U. 8. 46, 68 (dissenting
opinion). See also Rockin v. California, 342 U. S. 165, 174, 177
(concurring opinions) ; Hoag v. New Jersey, 356 U. S. 464, 477,
480, n. 5 (dissenting opinion).

2The Court expressed the same thought in various other ways.
The crucial principles were termed those “implicit in the concept
of ordered liberty,” 302 U. S., at 325; those without which it would
be impossible “to maintain a fair and enlightened system of justice,”
tbid.; or without which “neither liberty nor justice would exist,”
id., at 326; those “fundamental principles of liberty and justice
which lie at the base of all our civil and politieal institutions,” and
those whose absence creates “a hardship so acute and shocking that
our polity will not endure it.” Id., at 328.
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Greek and Roman times.* Even in the Dark Ages, when
so many other principles of justice were lost, the idea that
one trial and one punishment were enough remained alive
through the canon law and the teachings of the early
Christian writers.* By the thirteenth century it seems
to have been firmly established in England,® where it came

8 See Bonner, Lawyers and Litigants in Ancient Athens, 195; 1 Pot-
ter, Grecian Antiquities (1808), 194; Radin, Roman Law, 475, n. 28;
2 Sherman, Roman Law in the Modern World (3d ed. 1937), 488~
489; Berner, Non bis in idem, 3 Archiv fiir Preussisches Strafrecht
(1855), 472; Digest of Justinian: Digest 48.2.7.2, translated in 11
Scott, The Civil Law, 17, as “The governor should not permit the
same person to be again accused of crime of which he has been
acquitted.”

4 The canon law opposition to double trials stemmed from a reading
given by St. Jerome in 391 A. D. to I Nahum 9 (Douay version),
“there shall not rise a double affliction.” (In the King James version,
I Nahum 9, is given as “affliction shall not rise up the second time.”)
Jerome drew from this the rule that God does not punish twice for
the same act. See 25 Migne, Patrologia Latina (1845), 1238. This
maxim found its way into church canons as early as 847 A. D. and
was subsequently given as, “Not even God judges twice for the same
act.” See Brooke, The English Church and the Papacy, 205;
2 Maitland, Collected Papers (Fisher ed. 1911), Essay, Henry II and
the Criminous Clerks, 239; 1 Pollock and Maitland, History of
English Law (2d ed. 1899), 448-449; Poole, Domesday Book to
Magna Carta, 206. See also Berner, op. cit., supra, note 3, emphasiz-
ing the Roman antecedents of the canon law rule.

5See 2 Bracton, De Legibus et Consuetudinibus Angliae (Wood-
bine ed. 1922), 391, 397, applying the concept even to acquittals in
trial by battle. Cf. 2 Hawkins, Pleas of the Crown (4th ed. 1762),
368-379; 2 Staundeforde, Les Plees Del Corone (rev. ed. 1583),
105-108.

In the twelfth century avoidance of double punishment was a
major element in the celebrated controversy between St. Thomas
Becket and King Henry II. Henry wanted clerics who had been
convicted of crimes in church courts turned over to lay tribunals
for their punishment. Whether Becket was in fact correct in his
assertions that Henry’s proposals would result in double punishment
for the clerics has been much debated by historians. In all events,
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to be considered as a “universal maxim of the common
law.” ¢ It is not surprising, therefore, that the principle
was brought to this country by the earliest settlers as
part of their heritage of freedom,” and that it has been

Henry’s plan was abandoned after Becket’s murder. See Brooke,
op. cit., supra, note 4, at 190-214; 2 Maitland, op. cit., supra, note
4; 1 Pollock and Maitland, op. cit., supra, note 4, at 447—456; Poole,
op. cit., supra, note 4, at 203-218.

82 Cooley’s Blackstone (4th ed. 1899), *335, 336. See also 2
Staundeforde, op. cit., supra, note 5, at 105-108; Lambert, Crompton
and Dalton, Manuall or Analecta (rev. ed. 1642), 69-70; 3 Coke,
Institutes (6th ed. 1680), 213-214; 2 Hawkins, op. cit., supra, note 5,
at 368-379. One commentator has stated that the concept was bor-
rowed by English law from the canon law doctrine of criminal pro-
cedure. Radin, Anglo-American Legal History, 228.

In 1487 an exception was made in the rule by a statute dealing
with the “Authority of the Court of Star Chamber,” 3 Hen. 7, c. 1.
At the time criminal proceedings could be brought in two ways, by
government indictment and by the parties who suffered injury from
the crime. 3 Hen. 7, ¢. 1, provided that in “Death or Murder” cases a
defendant acquitted or attainted under government prosecution could
be tried again on charges brought by ‘“the Wife, or next Heir to
him so slain.” The Act was apparently never broadened and was
given an extremely narrow construction. See Hawkins, op. cit.,
supra, note 5, at 373-374, 377-379. See also Staundeforde, op. cit.,
supra, note 5, at 106-108. It soon fell into disuse, and the legal
profession was greatly shocked when, in 1818, the statute was relied
on to justify the retrial of a defendant who had previously been
acquitted. After many maneuvers, which included upholding the
defendant’s right to trial by battle, a second acquittal was obtained,
and the loophole in the “universal rule” against double trials was
formally plugged by Parliament. See Radin, Anglo-American Legal
History, 226-227, n. 24; Kirk, “Jeopardy” During the Period of the
Year Books, 32 U. Pa. L. Rev. 602, 608-609.

7 The Body of Liberties of Massachusetts (1641), clause 42, reads,
“No man shall be twise sentenced by Civill Justice for one and the
same Crime, offence, or Trespasse.” See also The Laws and Liberties
of Massachusetts (1648) (Farrand ed. 1929) 47, “everie Action . . .
in criminal Causes shall be . . . entred in the rolls of everie
Court . . . that such Actions be not afterwards brought again to
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recognized here as fundamental again and again.® Today
it is found, in varying forms, not only in the Federal Con-
stitution, but in the jurisprudence or constitutions of
every State, as well as most foreign nations.” It has, in
fact, been described as a part of all advanced systems of
law *° and as one of those universal principles “of rea-
son, justice, and conscience, of which Cicero said: ‘Nor is
it one thing at Rome and another at Athens, one now and
another in the future, but among all nations it is the
same.” ” **  While some writers have explained the opposi-
tion to double prosecutions by emphasizing the injustice
inherent in two punishments for the same act,'* and others
have stressed the dangers to the innocent from allowing
the full power of the state to be brought against them

the vexation of any man.” Similarly the pleas of former conviction
and acquittal were recognized in colonial Virginia. Scott, Criminal
Law in Colonial Virginia, 81-82, 102.

8 See, e. g., Ex parte Lange, 18 Wall. 163; Green v. United States,
355 U. S. 184, 198 (majority and dissenting opinions); Common-
wealth v. Olds, 5 Litt. Rep. (Ky.) 137 (1824); State v. Cooper,
13 N. J. L. 361, 370 (1833).

9 All but five States recognize the principle in their constitutions.
Each of these five prohibits double jeopardy as part of its common
law. See Brock v. North Carolina, 344 U. S. 424, 429, 435 (dis-
senting opinion) ; American Law Institute, Double Jeopardy (1935),
61-72.

The maxim “non bis in idem” is found throughout the civil law.
See Batchelder, Former Jeopardy, 17 Am. L. Rev. 735. See also
Berner, Non bis in idem, 3 Archiv fiir Preussisches Strafrecht (1855),
472; Kiissner, Non bis in idem, id., at 198; Donnedieu de Vabres,
Droit Criminel (3d ed. 1947), 886-887; It. Codice di Procedura
Penale, Art. 90, 579 (Ludus ed. 1955). But cf. Radin, Anglo-Ameri-
can Legal History, 228.

10 American Law Institute, Double Jeopardy (1935), Introductory
note, p. 7.

1 Batchelder, Former Jeopardy, 17 Am. L. Rev. 735.

12 See, €. ¢., Ex parte Lange, 18 Wall. 163, 168-169.
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in two trials,*® the basic and recurring theme has always
simply been that it is wrong for a man to “be brought
into Danger for the same Offence more than once.” ™
Few principles have been more deeply ‘“rooted in the
traditions and conscience of our people.”

The Court apparently takes the position that a second
trial for the same act is somehow less offensive if one of
the trials is conducted by the Federal Government and
the other by a State. Looked at from the standpoint of
the individual who is being prosecuted, this notion is too
subtle for me to grasp. If double punishment is what
is feared, it hurts no less for two “Sovereigns” to
inflict it than for one. If danger to the innocent is
emphasized, that danger is surely no less when the
power of State and Federal Governments is brought to
bear on one man in two trials, than when one of these
“Sovereigns” proceeds alone. In each case, inescapably,
a man is forced to face danger twice for the same conduct.

The Court, without denying the almost universal abhor-
rence of such double prosecutions, nevertheless justifies
the practice here in the name of “federalism.” This, it
seems to me, is a misuse and desecration of the concept.
Our Federal Union was conceived and created “to estab-
lish Justice” and to “secure the Blessings of Liberty,” not
to destroy any of the bulwarks on which both freedom
and justice depend. We should, therefore, be suspicious
of any supposed ‘“requirements” of “federalism” which
result in obliterating ancient safeguards. I have been
shown nothing in the history of our Union, in the writings
of its Founders, or elsewhere, to indicate that individual
rights deemed essential by both State and Nation were to

13 See, e. g., Commonwealth v. Olds, 5 Litt. Rep. (Ky.) 137, 139
(1824) ; State v. Cooper, 13 N. J. L. 361, 370-371 (1833) ; 2 Tucker,
Constitution of the United States, 675.

14 2 Hawkins, op. cit., supra, note 5, at 372. See also id., at 377.

495957 O-59-15
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be lost through*the combined operations of the two gov-
ernments. Nor has the Court given any sound reason for
thinking that the successful operation of our dual system
of government depends in the slightest on the power to
try people twice for the same act.

Implicit in the Court’s reliance on “federalism” is the
premise that failure to allow double prosecutions would
seriously impair law enforcement in both State and
Nation. For one jurisdiction might provide minor penal-
ties for acts severely punished by the other and by accept-
ing pleas of guilty shield wrongdoers from justice. I be-
lieve this argument fails on several grounds. In the first
place it relies on the unwarranted assumption that State
and Nation will seek to subvert each other’s laws. It has
elsewhere been persuasively argued that most civilized
nations do not and have not needed the power to try peo-
ple a second time to protect themselves even when deal-
ing with foreign lands.”® It is inconceivable to me, as it
was to the Constitutional Court of South Carolina in 1816,
that “If this prevails among nations who are strangers

15 Grant, The Lanza Rule of Successive Prosecutions, 32 Col. L.
Rev. 1309; Grant, Successive Prosecutions by State and Nation,
4 U. C. L. A. L. Rev. 1; Developments in the Law—Conspiraey, 72
Harv. L. Rev. 920, 968, n. 347. Cf. Feldman v. United States, 322
U. S. 487, 494 (dissenting opinion) ; Knapp v. Schweitzer, 357 U. S.
371, 382 (dissenting opinion). In England the doctrine that a foreign
acquittal is a good plea in bar seems to antedate the American Revo-
lution. See Rex v. Hutchinson, as reported in Beak v. Thyrwhit,
3 Mod. 194, 87 Eng. Rep. 124 (1689), and Burrows v. Jemino,
2 Str. 733, 93 Eng. Rep. 815 (1726), but compare the report of the
same case in Gage v. Bulkeley, Ridg. T. H. 263, 27 Eng. Rep. 824
(1744); Rex v. Roche, 1 Leach 134, 135n, 168 Eng. Rep. 169, 169n
(1775). Cf. Rex v. Thomas, 1 Sid. 179, 82 Eng. Rep. 1043; 1 Lev.
118, 83 Eng. Rep. 326; 1 Keb. 663, 83 Eng. Rep. 1172 (1664) ; 2 Haw-
kins, op. cit., supra, note 5, at 372. See also Rex v. Aughet, 26 Cox
C. C. 232, 238 (C. C. A. 1918) ; 10 Halsbury, The Laws of England
(3d ed. 1955), 405.
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to each other, [it could] fail to [prevail] with us who are
so intimately bound by political ties.” State v. Antonio,
2 Treadway’s Const. Rep. (S. C.) 776, 781. Cf. Testa v.
Katt, 330 U. S. 386.

The Court’s argument also ignores the fact that our
Constitution allocates power between local and federal
governments in such a way that the basic rights of each
can be protected without double trials. The Federal Gov-
ernment is given power to act in limited areas only, but
in matters properly within its scope it is supreme. It can
retain exclusive control of such matters, or grant the
States concurrent power on its own terms. If the States
were to subvert federal laws in these areas by imposing
inadequate penalties, Congress would have full power to
protect the national interest, either by defining the .crime
to be punished and establishing minimum penalties appli-
cable in both state and federal courts, or by excluding the
States altogether. Conversely, in purely local matters
the power of the States is supreme and exclusive. State
courts can and should, therefore, protect all essentially
local interests in one trial without federal interference.
Cf. Rutkin v. United States, 343 U. S. 130, 139 (dissent-
ing opinion). In areas, however, where the Constitu-
tion has vested power in the Federal Government the
States necessarily act only to the extent Congress per-
mits, and it is no infringement on their basic rights if
Congress chooses to fix penalties smaller than some of
them might wish. In fact, this will rarely occur, for Con-
gress is not likely to use indirect means to limit state
power when it could accomplish the same result directly
by pre-empting the field."®

16 See, e. g., Hines v. Davidowitz, 312 U. S. 52. Cf. Weber v. An-
heuser-Busch, Inc., 348 U. S. 468. Significantly, United States v.
Lanza, 260 U. 8. 377, involved the only situation where the Court’s
argument may have had some slight validity. For that case was
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Ultimately the Court’s reliance on federalism amounts
to no more than the notion that, somehow, one act
becomes two because two jurisdictions are involved.
Hawkins, in his Pleas of the Crown, long ago disposed of
a similar contention made to justify two trials for the same
offense by different counties as “a mere Fiction or Con-
struction of Law, which shall hardly take Place against a
Maxim made in Favour of Life.” " It was discarded as
a dangerous fiction then, it should be discarded as a
dangerous fiction now.

To bolster its argument that successive state and federal
prosecutions do not violate basic principles of justice, the
Court cites many cases. It begins with eight early state
decisions which, it says, “clarified the issue by stating
opposing arguments.” Four of these cases held that
prosecution by one government must bar subsequent
prosecutions elsewhere.® Two of the remaining four
refused to hold that concurrent jurisdiction could exist
since they feared that such a holding might bring about
two trials for the same offense, a result they considered
too shocking to tolerate. “This is against natural jus-
tice,” said the North Carolina Superior Court in 1794,
“and therefore I cannot believe it to be law.”*® The
seventh case cited is an inconclusive discussion coming
from a State whose highest court had previously stated

concerned with a prohibition violation, and the Eighteenth (Prohibi-
tion) Amendment could be taken to have established an area of
concurrent state and national power where the Federal Government
was not supreme. See Pennsylvania v. Nelson, 350 U. S. 497, 500.

172 Hawkins, op. cit., supra, note 5, at 370. See also 2 Staunde-
forde, op. cit., supra, note 5, at 105-106.

18 State v. Antonio, 2 Treadway’s Const. Rep. (8. C.) 776 (1816);
State v. Randall, 2 Aikens (Vt.) 89 (1827); Harlan v. People, 1
Doug. Rep. (Mich.) 207 (1843); Commonwealth v. Fuller, 8 Met.
(Mass.) 313 (1844).

19 State v. Brown, 2 N. C. *100, 101 (1794). See also Mattison v.
State, 3 Mo. *421 (1834).
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unequivocally that a bar against double prosecutions
would exist.® Thus only one of these early state cases
actually approves the doctrine the Court today advances,
and that approval is in dicta.?> Significantly, the highest
court of the same State later expressed the view that such
double trials would virtually never occur in our country.”

The Court relies mainly, however, on a later line of deci-
sions starting with Fox v. Ohio, 5 How. 410. Most of these,
like Fox itself, involved only the question of whether
both State and Federal Governments could make the same
conduct a crime. Although some, in dicta, admitted the
possibility that double prosecutions might result from
such concurrent power, others did not discuss the ques-
tion.”®* Many, especially among the earlier cases, pointed
out that double punishment violates the genius of our

20 State v. Tutt, 2 Bailey (S. C.) 44 (1830). Compare State v.
Antonio, 2 Treadway’s Const. Rep. (S. C.) 776 (1816).

21 Hendrick v. Commonwealth, 5 Leigh (Va.) 707 (1834).

22 Jett v. Commonwealth, 18 Gratt. (59 Va.) 933, 947, 959 (1867).

23 See, e. ¢., State v. Duncan, 221 Ark. 681, 255 S. W. 2d 430;
Dashing v. State, 78 Ind. 357; State v. Gauthier, 121 Me. 522, 118
A. 380; Commonwealth v. Nickerson, 236 Mass. 281, 128 N. E. 273;
State v. Holm, 139 Minn. 267, 166 N. W. 181; State v. Whittemore,
50 N. H. 245; State v. Frach, 162 Ore. 602, 94 P. 2d 143; Common-
wealth ex rel. O’Brien v. Burke, 171 Pa. Super. 273, 90 A. 2d 246;
Jett v. Commonwealth, 18 Gratt. (59 Va.) 933. See also State v.
Tutt, 2 Bailey (8. C.) 44; State v. Brown, 2 N. C. ¥*100. Dicta
can, of course, be found which runs against the Court’s holding.
See, e. g., Nielsen v. Oregon, 212 U. S. 315, 320, where this Court
said: “Where an act is . . . prohibited and punishable by the laws
of both States, the one first acquiring jurisdiction of the person may
prosecute the offense, and its judgment is a finality in both States,
so that one convicted or acquitted in the courts of the one State
cannot be prosecuted for the same offense in the courts of the other.”
And United States v. Furlong, 5 Wheat. 184, 197, “Robbery on the
seas is . . . within the eriminal jurisdiction of all nations . . . and
there can be no doubt that the plea of autre fois acquit would be
good in any civilized State, though resting on a prosecution instituted
in the Courts of any other civilized State.”
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free country and therefore would never occur. As Chief
Justice Taney, on circuit, said in one of them “Yet in all
civilized countries it is recognized as a fundamental prin-
ciple of justice that a man ought not to be punished twice
for the same offence; and if this party had been pun-
ished . . . in the state tribunal, the court would have
felt it to be its duty to suspend sentence, and to represent
the facts to the president, to give him an opportunity
of . . . granting a pardon.” * While a limited number of
cases after Fozx are cited in which a double conviction was
upheld, in several of these the second court was so
troubled by the result that only nominal sentences were
imposed.® In fact, before United States v. Lanza, 260
U. S. 377 (1922), where this Court upheld and encouraged
the practice, the cases of actual double punishment found
are so few, in relation to the great mass of criminal
cases decided, that one can readily discern an instinctive
unwillingness to impose such hardships on defendants.?

Despite its exhaustive research, the Court has cited
only three cases before Lanza where a new trial after
an acquittal was upheld. In one of these, United States
v. Barnhart, 22 F. 285, the state court in which the
defendant had been acquitted did not have jurisdiction
of the action. The Federal Circuit Court relied on
this lack of jurisdiction in allowing a retrial, but made

2¢ United States v. Amy, 24 Fed. Cas. No. 14,445, at 811. See also
Fox v. Ohio, 5 How. 410, 435; United States v. Wells, 28 Fed. Cas.
522, No. 16,665; Jett v. Commonwealth, 18 Gratt. (59 Va.) 933, 947.

25 See, e. g., United States v. Palan, 167 F. 991, 992-993, “to punish
a man twice for the same offence shocks the sense of justice.” See
also United States v. Holt, 270 F. 639, 642-643.

26 The Court also relies on cases arising since Lanza where fear of
that holding caused tight construction of federal laws to avoid double
prosecutions. See Jerome v. United States, 318 U. S. 101; Screws v.
United States, 325 U. S. 91. Cf. Pennsylvania v. Nelson, 350 U. S.
497, 509. These cases can hardly be thought to approve the result
they sought to avoid.
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an alternate holding based on the same general argu-
ments used by the Court today.”” The Barnhart opinion
also intimated that the first trial may have been a sham.*®
Sham trials, as well as those by courts without jurisdic-
tion, have been considered by courts and commentators
not to be jeopardy, and might therefore not bar subse-
quent convictions.”® In the second case cited by the
Court, the state conviction followed acquittal by a federal
court-martial at a time when, as the state court seemed
to recognize, a military trial was thought by many not to
be a trial for the purpose of double jeopardy even when
both trials were conducted by the same “Sovereign.” *
The third case relied on, a 1915 decision from the State
of Washington, is the only one of the three where it can
fairly be said that a defendant acquitted in a proper

2" The case involved the killing of an Indian by white men on an
Indian reservation. The court said: “The defendants have never
been tried for the offense charged in this indictment. For either,
the state court before which they were tried had no jurisdiction in
the premises, and then the proceeding set forth in the pleas was a
nullity; or if it had, it was an offense against the law of the state
and not the United States.” 22 F., at 291. The court was correct
in its belief that the state court had no jurisdiction. See Williams v.
Lee, 358 U. S. 217. The decision was on a demurrer to a plea of
former acquittal and it does not appear whether the federal jury
convicted.

2 The court noted, “No white man was ever hung for killing an
Indian, and no Indian tried for killing a white man ever escaped the
gallows.” 22 F, at 289,

29 See, e. g., United States v. Ball, 163 U. S. 662, 669; Edwards v.
Commonwealth, 233 Ky. 356, 25 S. W. 2d 746. Cf. United States v.
Mason, 213 U. 8. 115, 120, 125. See also 2 Hawkins, op. cit., supra,
note 5, at 370.

30 State v. Rankin, 4 Cold. (Tenn.) 145, 157 (1867). The Rankin
court cited an account of a federal court-martial following acquittal
by Florida territorial courts. Similarly, United States v. Cashiel,
25 Fed. Cas. 318, No. 14,744 (1863), upheld a federal prosecution
following prosecution by the United States military authorities.
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jury trial was subsequently tried again by a jury and
convicted.*

One may, I think, infer from the fewness of the cases
that retrials after acquittal have been considered par-
ticularly obnoxious, worse even, in the eyes of many, than
retrials after conviction.** I doubt, in fact, if many prac-
tices which have been found to violate due process can
boast of so little actual support. Yet it is on this meager
basis that the Court must ultimately rest its finding that
Bartkus’ retrial does not violate fundamental principles
“rooted in the traditions and conscience of our peoples.”
Nor are these scattered and dubious cases unchallenged,
for, balanced against them, we have a firm holding by
this Court sustaining an extremely narrow construction
of a federal statute in order to make a state acquittal con-
clusive in the federal courts and thereby avoid the evil
approved today. United States v. Mason, 213 U. S. 115.
That case, as well as the “sacred duty . . . to maintain
unimpaired those securities for the personal rights of the
individual which have received for ages the sanction of the
jurist and the statesman,” Ex parte Lange, 18 Wall. 163,
178, should make us doubly hesitant to encourage so
blatant a violation of constitutional policies against
double trials by giving an ‘“illiberal construction . . . to
the words of the fundamental law in which they are
embodied.” Ibid.

Since Lanza people have apparently become more ac-
customed to double trials, once deemed so shocking, just

81 State v. Kenney, 83 Wash. 441, 145 P. 450.

3z See, e. g., Commonuwealth v. Olds, 5 Litt. Rep. (Ky.) 137, 139;
State v. Cooper, 13 N. J. L. 361, 370-371. See also Iowa Const.,
Art. I, § 12; Mich. Const., Art. I, § 14; Mo. Const., Art. I, § 19;
N. H. Const., Pt. First Art. 16; N. J. Const., Art. I, T 11; R. I. Const.,
Art. I, § 7; Tex. Const., Art. I, § 14. The Federal Bill of Rights did
not, of course, differentiate between retrials after acquittal and retrials
after conviction; it banned both.
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as they might, in time, adjust themselves to all other
violations of the Bill of Rights should they be sanctioned
by this Court. The Court is therefore able to find a
1943 state case, as well as four federal cases in the last
five years, in which a conviction following acquittal was
sustained.*® Thus this practice, which for some 150 years
was considered so undesirable that the Court must strain
to find examples, is now likely to become a commonplace.
For, after today, who will be able to blame a conscientious
prosecutor for failing to accept a jury verdict of acquittal
when he believes a defendant guilty and knows that a
second try is available in another jurisdiction and that
such a second try is approved by the Highest Court in
the Land? Inevitably, the victims of such double prose-
cutions will most often be the poor and the weak in our
society, individuals without friends in high places who
can influence prosecutors not to try them again. The
power to try a second time will be used, as have all similar
procedures, to make scapegoats of helpless, political,
religious, or racial minorities and those who differ, who
do not conform and who resist tyranny. See Chambers
v. Florida, 309 U. S. 227, 236.

There are some countries that allow the dangerous
practice of trying people twice. I am inserting below a
recent news item about a man who was tried, convicted,
sentenced to prison and then was tried again, convicted
and sentenced to death.** Similar examples are not hard

33 New Jersey v. Cioffe, 130 N. J. L. 160, 32 A. 2d 79 (1943);
Serio v. United States, 203 F. 2d 576 (1953) ; Jolley v. United States,
232 F. 2d 83 (1956) ; Smith v. United States, 243 F. 2d 877 (1957);
Rios v. United States, 256 ¥. 2d 173 (1958).

3¢ The New York Times for October 22, 1958, p. 4, col. 6, carried
the following item under the Moscow date line:

“A 19-year-old ‘stilyag’ (zoot-suiter) was re-tried and sentenced to
death following public protests that the original ten to twenty-five-
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to find in lands torn by revolution or crushed by dictator-
ship. I had thought that our constitutional protections
embodied in the Double Jeopardy and Due Process
Clauses would have barred any such things happening
here. Unfortunately, last year’s holdings by this Court
in Ciucct v. Illinois, 356 U. S. 571, and Hoag v. New Jer-
sey, 356 U. S. 464, and today’s affirmance of the convic-
tions of Bartkus and Abbate cause me to fear that in an
important number of cases it can happen here.
I would reverse.

MRg. Justick BRENNAN, whom TwE CHIEF JUSTICE and
MR. Jusrice DoucGLAs join, dissenting,.

Bartkus was tried and acquitted in a Federal District
Court of robbing a federally insured savings and loan asso-
ciation in Cicero, Illinois. He was indicted for the same
robbery by the State of Illinois less than three weeks later,
and subsequently convicted and sentenced to life impris-
onment. The single issue in dispute at both trials was
whether Bartkus was the third participant in the robbery
along with two self-confessed perpetrators of the crime.

The Government’s case against Bartkus on the federal
trial rested primarily upon the testimony of two of the
robbers, Joseph Cosentino and James Brindis, who con-

year term imposed for killing a militiaman during a robbery was too
lenient, the newspaper Komsomolskaya Pravda said today.

“The condemned youth was Victor Shanshkin, leader of a gang of
four youths who tried to break into a Moscow store last May, accord-
ing to the newspaper of the Young Communist Organization.

“He pumped seven bullets into the militiaman, who tried to pre-
vent the robbery.

“The four escaped, but were later arrested and sentenced to prison
terms ranging from ten to twenty-five years. The sentences aroused
widespread public protests.

“At the second trial, held recently, Shanshkin was sentenced to die.
The other three, all under 20 years of age, were ordered to serve
prison terms ranging from ten to twenty years.”
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fessed their part in the crime and testified that Bartkus
was their confederate. The defense was that Bartkus
was getting a haircut in a barber shop several miles away
at the time the robbery was committed. The owner of
the barber shop, his son and other witnesses placed
Bartkus in the shop at the time. The federal jury in
acquitting Bartkus apparently believed the alibi witnesses
and not Cosentino and Brindis.

The federal authorities were highly displeased with the
jury’s resolution of the conflicting testimony, and the
trial judge sharply upbraided the jury for its verdict.
See some of his remarks printed in United States v. Vasen,
222 F. 2d 3, 9-10 (dissenting opinion). The federal
authorities obviously decided immediately after the trial
to make a second try at convicting Bartkus, and since the
federal courthouse was barred to them by the Fifth
Amendment, they turned to a state prosecution for that
purpose. It is clear that federal officers solicited the state
indictment, arranged to assure the attendance of key wit-
nesses, unearthed additional evidence to discredit Bartkus
and one of his alibi witnesses, and in general prepared and
guided the state prosecution. Thus the State’s Attorney
stated at the state trial: “I am particularly glad to see a
case where the federal authorities came to see the state’s
attorney.” And Illinois conceded with commendable
candor on the oral argument in this Court “that the fed-
eral officers did instigate and guide this state prosecution”
and “actually prepared this case.” Indeed, the State
argued the case on the basis that the record showed as a
matter of “fair inference” that the case was one in which
“federal officers bring to the attention of the state prose-
cuting authority the commission of an act and furnish
and provide him with evidence of defendant’s guilt.”

I think that the record before us shows that the extent
of participation of the federal authorities here consti-
tuted this state prosecution actually a second federal
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prosecution of Bartkus. The federal jury acquitted Bart-
kus late in December 1953. Early in January 1954 the
Assistant United States Attorney who prosecuted the fed-
eral case summoned Cosentino to his office. Present also
were the FBI agent who had investigated the robbery and
the Assistant State’s Attorney for Cook County who later
prosecuted the state case. The Assistant State’s Attorney
said to Cosentino, “Look, we are going to get an indict-
ment in the state court against Bartkus, will you testify
against him?”’ Cosentino agreed that he would. Later
Brindis also agreed to testify. Although they pleaded
guilty to the federal robbery charge in August 1953, the
Federal District Court postponed their sentencing until
after they testified against Bartkus at the state trial,
which was not held until April 1954. The record does not
disclose what sentences were imposed after they testified
at the state trial or whether sentences have yet been
imposed. Both Cosentino and Brindis were also released
on bail pending the state trial, Brindis on his own
recognizance.

In January, also, an FBI agent who had been active
in the federal prosecution purposefully set about strength-
ening the proofs which had not sufficed to convict Bartkus
on the federal trial. And he frankly admitted that
he “was securing it [information] for the federal gov-
ernment,” although what he gathered had ‘“gone to the
state authorities.” These January efforts of the agent
were singularly successful and may well have tipped the
scales in favor of conviction. He uncovered a new witness
against Bartkus, one Grant Pursel, who had been enlarged
on bail pending his sentencing on his plea of guilty to an
indictment for violation of the Mann Act. Pursel testi-
fied that “about two weeks after the federal trial, in the
first part of January,” the FBI agent sought him out to
discuss an alleged conversation between Pursel and Bart-
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kus during September 1953 when both were in jail await-
ing their respective federal trials. Pursel’s testimony at
the state trial, that Bartkus had told him he participated
in the robbery, was obviously very damaging. Yet, indic-
ative of the attitude of the federal officials that this was
actually a federal prosecution, the FBI agent arranged no
interview between Pursel and any state authority. The
first time that Pursel had any contact whatsoever with
a state official connected with the case was the morning
that he testified. And as in the case of Cosentino and
Brindis, Pursel’s sentencing was postponed until after
he testified against Bartkus at the state trial. Here too
the record does not disclose what sentence was imposed
or whether any has yet been imposed.

Also within a month after the federal acquittal the
FBI agent sought out the operator of the barber shop
who had placed Bartkus in his shop at the time of
the robbery. The barber testified at both federal and
state trials that Bartkus entered his shop before 4 o’clock,
about which time the robbery was committed. The agent
testified as a rebuttal witness for the State that the barber
had told him in January that it might have been after
4:30 o’clock when Bartkus entered the shop. And the
significance of the federal participation in this prosecu-
tion is further evidenced by the Assistant State’s Attor-
ney’s motion at the beginning of the trial, which was
granted over defense objection, to permit the FBI agent
to remain in the courtroom throughout the trial although
other witnesses were excluded.

The Court, although not finding such to be the case
here, apparently acknowledges that under certain circum-
stances it would be necessary to set aside a state convie-
tion brought about by federal authorities to avoid the
prohibition of the Fifth Amendment against a second
federal prosecution. Our task is to determine how much
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the federal authorities must participate in a state prose-
cution before it so infects the conviction that we must
set it aside. The test, I submit, must be fashioned to
secure the fundamental protection of the Fifth Amend-
ment “that the . . . [Federal Government] with all its
resources and power should not be allowed to make
repeated attempts to convict an individual for an alleged
offense, thereby subjecting him to embarrassment, ex-
pense and ordeal and compelling him to live in a con-
tinuing state of anxiety and insecurity . .. .” Greenv.
United States, 355 U. S. 184, 187. TUnder any test based
upon these principles, this conviction cannot stand. In
allowing the use of federal resources to bring about this
second try at Bartkus, the Court denies Bartkus the pro-
tection which the Fifth Amendment assures him. Given
the fact that there must always be state officials involved
in a state prosecution, I cannot see how there can be more
complete federal participation in a state prosecution
than there was in this case. I see no escape from the
conclusion that this particular state trial was in actuality
a second federal prosecution—a second federal try at
Bartkus in the guise of a state prosecution. If this state
conviction is not overturned, then, as a practical matter,
there will be no restraints on the use of state machinery
by federal officers to bring what is in effect a second
federal prosecution.

To set aside this state conviction because infected with
constitutional violations by federal officers implies no
condemnation of the state processes as such. The convic-
tion is set aside not because of any infirmities resulting
from fault of the State but because it is the product of
unconstitutional federal action. I cannot grasp the merit
of an argument that protection against federal oppression
in the circumstances shown by this record would do vio-
lence to the principles of federalism. Of course, coopera-
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tion between federal and state authorities in criminal
law enforcement is to be desired and encouraged, for
cooperative federalism in this field can indeed profit the
Nation and the States in improving methods for carrying
out the endless fight against crime. But the normal and
healthy situation consists of state and federal officers
cooperating to apprehend lawbreakers and present the
strongest case against them at a single trial, be it state
or federal. Cooperation in order to permit the Federal
Government to harass the accused so as to deny him his
protection under the Fifth Amendment is not to be tol-
erated as a legitimate requirement of federalism. The
lesson of the history which wrought the Fifth Amend-
ment’s protection has taught us little if that shield may
be shattered by reliance upon the requirements of feder-
alism and state sovereignty to sustain this transparent
attempt of the Federal Government to have two tries at
convicting Bartkus for the same alleged crime. What
happened here was simply that the federal effort which
failed in the federal courthouse was renewed a second
time in the state courthouse across the street. Not con-
tent with the federal jury’s resolution of conflicting testi-
mony in Bartkus’ favor, the federal officers engineered
this second prosecution and on the second try obtained
the desired conviction. It is exactly this kind of succes-
sive prosecution by federal officers that the Fifth Amend-
ment was intended to prohibit. This Court has declared
principles in clearly analogous situations which I think
should control here. In Rea v. United States, 350 U. S.
214, the Court held that an injunction should issue against
a federal agent’s transference of illegally obtained evi-
dence to state authorities for use as the basis of a state
charge. If the federal courts have power to defeat a state
prosecution by force of their supervision of federal officers,
surely the federal courts have power to defeat a state
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prosecution transparently employed by federal authorities
in violation of the Fifth Amendment. In Knapp v.
Schweitzer, 357 U. S. 371, 380, we declared: “Of course
the Federal Government may not take advantage of . . .
the States’ autonomy in order to evade the Bill of Rights.”
See also Feldman v. United States, 322 U. S. 487, 494;
cf. Byars v. United States, 273 U. S. 28. These principles
require, I think, that we set aside this state conviction.
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